



**SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION
LOCAL 1021
BYLAWS**

Adopted on September 15, 2012

**SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION
LOCAL 1021
BYLAWS**

Adopted on September 15, 2012

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Article</u>		<u>Page</u>
	PREAMBLE	1
1	NAME	1
2	AFFILIATION	1
3	JURISDICTION	1
4	MISSION, VISION AND OBJECTIVES	1
5	MEMBERSHIP	1
6	MEETINGS	3
7	INDUSTRY COUNCILS	4
8	OCCUPATIONAL GROUPS	5
9	REGIONS	5
10	RETIREE COUNCIL	5
11	CHAPTERS	6
12	STEWARDS AND STEWARDS COUNCILS	7
13	COMMITTEES	7
14	EXECUTIVE BOARD	9
15	ELECTED OFFICIALS	10
16	ADMINISTRATION	15
17	INTERNATIONAL CONVENTION DELEGATES	16
18	LOCAL EXECUTIVE BOARD ELECTIONS	17
19	COLLECTIVE BARGAINING	19
20	STRIKE	20
21	UNION FUNDS, DUES AND PROPERTY	20
22	BONDING	20
23	TRIALS AND APPEALS	21
24	LITIGATION	21
25	AMENDMENTS	21
	SEIU MEMBER BILL OF RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES IN THE UNION	22
	SEIU MEMBER BILL OF RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE JOB	22
	APPENDIX A: MANUAL OF COMMON PROCEDURE	
	APPENDIX B: LIST OF SEIU REGIONS	

PREAMBLE

We as workers in the northern region of California recognize that the Union is committed to the development and advancement of labor, and the protection of human rights. We value human dignity, equality, solidarity, and the principles of democracy. We acknowledge diversity and traditions. To that end, we seek to empower, support, and encourage our members to improve our status and the status of other working people. We shall collectively strive to resolve problems common to our communities and work environments. This philosophy shall be reflected in our activities and the services we provide. We therefore acknowledge these principles and adopt these Bylaws.

ARTICLE 1. NAME: The name of this organization shall be Service Employees International Union Local 1021 hereinafter referred to in these Bylaws as SEIU Local 1021 or the Union.

ARTICLE 2. AFFILIATION: SEIU Local 1021 is part of the Service Employees International Union and shall be subject to the Constitution of that Union and all policies adopted pursuant thereto. Any existing group of employees may request consideration for affiliation with SEIU Local 1021. The requesting organization shall submit a written request for affiliation and a copy of its constitution and/or bylaws, and meet with the Executive Board of SEIU Local 1021. Written notice shall be mailed after the details of an affiliation have been agreed to.

ARTICLE 3. JURISDICTION: This Union shall have jurisdiction to organize public sector and publicly funded workers in the northern region of California, except as it may conflict with such exclusive jurisdiction that has been granted to other SEIU local unions in California.

ARTICLE 4. MISSION, VISION AND OBJECTIVES: Our mission is to ensure that all workers and their families have a voice in our Union, as well as our workplace, government, and communities.

We envision a society where: All workers and their families live and work in dignity and respect. Through strength, unity and member support our Union works with the communities we serve, our labor allies, and employers towards our common goals. We are known among our members and communities as the leader in the labor movement. Through our collective voice, we achieve justice, empowerment, and respect in every workplace. Through alliance building and social responsibility, the visibility and influence of working people in our communities is strong. Working people engage in the democratic process and exercise their collective voice at a local, state and national level. The communities we live and work in support and advocate for the critical public services we provide.

In all of our activities and programs, our Union will: Be accountable and responsive to the needs of our membership. Promote democratic participation, engagement and leadership among our members. Manage change and resources with integrity and transparency. Encourage unity by being proactive and mentoring others. Eliminate indifference and transform fear into courage. Demonstrate sound, ethical and just principles.

ARTICLE 5. MEMBERSHIP: There shall be no discrimination against any member or applicant for membership by reason of race, creed, color, religion, gender, gender expression, sexual

orientation, national origin, citizenship status, marital status, ancestry, age, political affiliation, or disability status.

5.1. Regular Member Rights

A. The right to have opinions heard and respected, to participate in the work of the Union, and to be informed of union activities.

B. The right to be educated in union values and union skills.

C. The right to nominate candidates for office, vote in elections, participate in meetings and choose leaders of the Union in a fair and democratic process.

D. The right to a full accounting of union dues and expenditures.

E. The right to participate in collective bargaining efforts and to vote on contracts with our employers.

F. The right to have a meaningful and protected voice in designing one's work and in long-term planning by one's employer.

G. The right to fair and equitable treatment on the job.

H. The right to share fairly in the gains of the employer.

I. The right to receive fair and expeditious representation.

J. The right to meet and assemble freely.

5.1A. Retiree Member Rights

SEIU Local 1021 Retirees shall have the right to have opinions heard and respected, to participate in the work of the Union, to be active participants on committees, including but not limited to, committees referenced in Article 13, and to be informed of union activities.

5.2. Member Responsibilities: Each member is obligated to the following terms and conditions of SEIU Local 1021. These terms and conditions shall not be construed to require any individual member to waive his/her legal rights. Members shall have:

A. The responsibility to pay dues as established by this Union. A member in good standing is defined as a member whose membership dues are current and paid on time.

B. The responsibility to recognize and respect the interests of all union members when making decisions about union programs and goals.

C. The responsibility to participate fully in the Union's efforts to expand the voice of workers in one's industry, area and workplace.

D. The responsibility to help build a strong and more effective labor movement by building a political voice for working people.

E. The responsibility to treat all workers and members fairly. No member shall slander, advocate against, or harm another member.

F. The responsibility to assist in organizing the unorganized and standing up for one's co-workers and all workers.

G. The responsibility to participate in the conduct of the Union's programs and activities and offer honest, constructive criticism.

H. The responsibility to comply with decisions of the Union and carry out collective bargaining agreements.

I. No member shall engage in dual unionism or disaffiliation from this Union.

5.3. Categories of Membership

A. **Regular Member:** A regular member is employed by an employer for which SEIU Local 1021 is recognized as the exclusive bargaining agent on matters related to the terms and conditions of employment. Regular members pay full dues as established by this Union. Regular members have the right to vote and run for office. Regular members may serve on a committee, as

an elected representative or delegate, as a negotiating team member, as a steward, chapter officer or any other elected position, subject to the terms of these Bylaws.

B. Retiree Member: A member who retires from employment with a bargaining unit within SEIU Local 1021 or from a bargaining unit over which SEIU Local 1021 now has jurisdiction is eligible for retiree membership. Retiree members shall pay reduced dues as set by the Executive Board. Retiree members shall have the right to participate in the Retiree Council. Retiree members may elect a retiree chair to represent them on the Executive Board, serve on a committee and attend meetings. Retiree members are ineligible to run for office or vote, with the following exceptions: Retirees may run for the office of Retiree Council Chair. Retirees may vote only for the offices of Retirement Security Chair and Retiree Council Chair, as well as vote on proposed amendments to Local 1021 Bylaws. Retirees who are employed by the Union are not eligible to run for the Retiree Council Chair. The Executive Board may waive retiree membership requirements for those retiree members who were retiree members prior to the approval of these Bylaws.

C. Associate Member: Individuals whose interests, purposes and activities are aligned with the work and goals of SEIU Local 1021 and who are not part of a bargaining unit for which the Union is the exclusive bargaining agent are eligible for associate membership. Workers involved in an active organizing campaign as employees within the jurisdiction of the Union are eligible for associate membership. Retired workers other than ones represented by SEIU Local 1021 are eligible for Associate Membership. Retiree Associate Members are not eligible to serve on the Retiree Council, or to be officers of Retiree Chapters. Associate members shall submit an application for associate membership and pay dues as set by the Executive Board. The Executive Board shall have the right to approve or disapprove associate membership applications. Associate members are ineligible to nominate officers, run for office, or vote in elections or matters of the Union. Associate members are not entitled to representation by SEIU Local 1021 in any grievance, litigation, personnel board, or civil service matter. Associate members may attend meetings if they receive approval from the appropriate governing or organizing body. The Executive Board has the right to determine the benefits and privileges of associate members.

D. Associate Member–Staff: Staff, whether they are represented or unrepresented by a bargaining agent, wishing to be associate members of the Local Union shall pay full dues to the Local Union. Associate Staff Members may serve on committees and attend meetings. Associate Staff Members may run only for the position of international convention delegate. Associate Staff Members shall constitute no more than 10% of the Local's delegation.

ARTICLE 6. MEETINGS

6.1. Membership Convention: A membership convention of delegates from each chapter of the Union, including the Retiree Chapters, shall be held at least once per every Executive Board term at a time and place designated by the Executive Board. The membership shall be notified in advance of the meeting time and location. The purpose of the membership convention is to:

- A. Develop member leadership through education and training.
- B. Strengthen our Union by providing members with an opportunity to network, share ideas and connect across the Union.
- C. Discuss, advise on, and ratify major plans and projects of the Union.
- D. Celebrate the contributions and work of members in advancing the goals and objectives of the Union.
- E. The membership convention shall be a delegated body. Delegates shall be allocated by Chapter, including the Retiree Chapters, based on two (2) delegates for each chapter and two (2) additional delegates for every additional one hundred fifty (150) members in each chapter. Each chapter shall elect its delegates.

The membership convention shall be open to all members. Such attendees may participate in all activities, but shall not be eligible to vote at the convention.

One-third of the elected delegates shall constitute a quorum at the membership convention.

6.2. Right to Attend Meetings: Regular members and Retiree members of the Union have the right to attend all public meetings of the Union.

6.3. Special Meetings: The Executive Board may call special membership meetings with advance notice to members of the date, time, and location of the meeting.

6.4. Votes at Meetings: There shall be no proxy votes at any meetings. All votes shall be cast in person.

6.5. Parliamentary Authority: The meetings of this Union shall be governed by the *Manual of Common Procedure*. (See *Manual of Common Procedure* located in Appendix A.)

ARTICLE 7. INDUSTRY COUNCILS: Industry Councils include employees of similar employers or bargaining units from across the Union. The role of the Industry Councils is to strengthen contracts, organize new members within the industry, track trends, and improve overall standards within the industry by sharing information, resources, and strategies and to strengthen member engagement and participation in achieving the goals and objectives of the Union.

7.1. Composition: This Union shall be composed of at least nine (9) Industry Councils. The Industry Councils shall be as follows: Cities, City and County of San Francisco, Counties, Courts, Health Care, Private Sector/Non-Profit, Registered Nurses, Schools, Special Districts.

7.2. Powers and Authority: A chair of each Industry Council shall be elected by the members of each industry, in accordance with Article 18 (Elections) of these Bylaws. The chair shall represent the interests of each industry on the Executive Board. The Executive Board shall have the right to modify, dissolve, and create new industries, which may lead to the addition or subtraction of Executive Board seats. The Union shall develop Industry Council accountability measures and standards. Each Industry Council shall have the authority to:

- A. Establish subcommittees to complete the work of the Industry Council.
- B. Establish occupational councils within each council and across Industry Councils.
- C. Advise the Executive Board on matters related to the industry.

7.3. Responsibilities: Each Industry Council shall:

A. Develop industry specific plans, programs, and objectives. Industry Councils shall work to strengthen contracts and standards within the industry.

B. Provide training, education, and information on trends, struggles, and issues related to the industry. Each Industry Council shall serve as a forum for member engagement and participation in the Union. Each Industry Council shall establish the appropriate avenues for members from all regions of the Union to participate in the Industry Council.

C. Implement local-wide initiatives and promote political programs as directed by the Executive Board.

D. Identify opportunities for improving service delivery within the industry.

7.4. Meetings: Each Industry Council shall meet at least quarterly. Each Industry Council shall maintain meeting minutes and submit them to the Executive Board upon request.

ARTICLE 8. OCCUPATIONAL GROUPS: Occupational groups include members from like occupations, professions or job classifications with the same or different employers. Occupational groups provide a forum for members to share issues with those who have a mutual community of interest based on their type of employment. Such groups may participate in Industry Council meetings and may report items of interest to their chapters, Industry Council, or the Executive Board. Each occupational group shall maintain meeting minutes and submit them to the Executive Board upon request.

ARTICLE 9. REGIONS

9.1. Composition: A region is defined as members organized by a geographic area over which SEIU 1021 has jurisdiction. See Appendix B for current regions.

9.2. Powers and Authority

A. The Executive Board may modify, dissolve or create new regions to meet the changing needs of the Union. Such actions must be adopted at least one (1) year before the Executive Board elections specified in Article 18 of these Bylaws.

B. The Executive Board may establish regional committees to implement the plans and programs of the Union.

C. Members from each region shall elect two members to serve on the Budget and Finance Committee in accordance with Article 18 (Elections) of these Bylaws.

D. Members from each county area over which SEIU has jurisdiction shall elect their county representative(s), as described in Article 18 (Elections), who shall serve on the Executive Board. County area representatives shall serve as a liaison between members in their area and the Executive Board, collaborate with Industry Councils to ensure participation of members from their county area, and engage their membership in the activities, plans and programs of the Union.

ARTICLE 10. RETIREE COUNCIL: The Retiree Council is comprised of retiree members. The purpose of the Retiree Council is to provide retiree members of the Union with a forum for participating in the work of the Union and voicing items of interest or concern.

10.1. Powers and Authority

A. The Retiree Council shall have the authority to develop policies, procedures and rules related to the operations of the Retiree Council, in accordance with Union policies, rules, and Bylaws. The Executive Board shall have the authority to review and approve said policies, procedures, and rules.

B. The Retiree Council shall develop and implement a program to achieve goals and objectives related to retirees, as well as to further the overall interests of this Union. The Retiree Council shall have the authority to set up subcommittees or other bodies to implement its program, in accordance with SEIU 1021 Bylaws, rules, and policies.

C. A Retiree Council chair shall be elected in accordance with Article 18 (Elections) and shall serve on the Executive Board, the International Retiree Council, and the Budget and Finance Committee.

10.2. Vacancy

If an elected member of the Executive Board has fulfilled more than 60% of his/her term and retires from his/her employment, he/she may remain in the position until the end of his/her term, and must continue to pay the full contribution of dues.

ARTICLE 11. CHAPTERS: This Union shall be subdivided into chapters. A chapter is comprised of one or more bargaining units from an employer or employers.

11.1. The Executive Board shall have the authority to establish new chapters (including retiree chapters), authorize a request for chapter status by a bargaining unit or group of employees represented by SEIU 1021, or authorize chapters based on additional criteria such as geographical area or job classification. In order to have official chapter status, a chapter must receive authorization from the Executive Board.

11.2. The Executive Board shall have the authority to authorize chapter status to local governing bodies in operation prior to the merger that created this Union that may not meet the definition of a chapter as defined in these Bylaws. The Union shall assist those jurisdictions without existing chapter structures at the time of the initial passage of these Bylaws to establish or transition to chapters.

11.3. The Executive Board shall have the authority to approve compliance rules and policies for chapter operations in order to meet fiduciary and legal standards. Expenditure of chapter funds must be in compliance with rules and policies established by this Union.

11.4. Each chapter is responsible for activities representing its members within its jurisdiction. Each chapter shall elect chapter officers. Each chapter shall have the authority to adopt policies and bylaws suitable to the needs of its members in accordance with SEIU 1021 Bylaws, policies, and regulations. The Executive Board shall have the authority to review and approve chapter bylaws and amendments.

11.5. Chapters shall maintain minutes of chapter meetings and provide minutes to the Executive Board upon request.

11.6. Regional Chapter Bodies: Chapters are the building blocks of a strong union. Stewards are the face of the Union at the worksite and are critical to building a strong, engaged, and active membership. Area Representatives are the elected leaders serving and representing the interests of the members in their area and the Union as a whole. Regional Bodies are groupings of Area Representatives, Chapter Officers, stewards, and member leaders formed to empower the rank and file, to formulate policy, to make decisions, and to communicate with the Executive Board on any and all matters of importance to the members.

Subject to the approval of the Executive Board Regions, as defined in Article 9, may develop Regional Bodies to address the needs of members in their area. The following general guidelines are recommended, but the Area Representatives and the members in each Region are responsible for developing the structure that best suits their needs.

- Each Regional Body shall be chaired by a/the area's designated Executive Board Representative with the support of the area Vice President.
- Regional Bodies should hold regularly scheduled meetings.
- Meetings use the *Manual of Common Procedure*. (See Appendix A for the *Manual of Common Procedure*.)
- Regional Bodies should engage and communicate regularly with the Executive Board.
- Recommendations and decisions adopted by Regional Bodies are subject to the authority of the Executive Board and should be communicated through the Area Representatives to the Regional Vice-President and the Executive Board (Secretary).

- Minutes are taken, submitted for approval at the next meeting of the body, and maintained in a file. Minutes are available to any member upon request.
- Regional Bodies should be well organized, effective, and promote solidarity and inclusiveness.
- They should develop strategies for member engagement, political education, improving communication, and serving the needs of their members.

It is the responsibility of the Area Representatives and interested members from each region to work with the Regional Vice President to develop a plan for the Regional Body. Once a plan has been developed it shall be presented to the Executive board for review and approval.

ARTICLE 12. STEWARDS AND STEWARDS COUNCILS: Stewards are the face of the union at the worksite and are critical to building a strong, engaged, and active membership.

12.1. Chapters may develop policies and procedures related to stewards and Stewards Councils. The Executive Board shall have the authority to review and approve policies and procedures related to stewards. The Union may develop local-wide programs, rules, standards, and training programs for stewards and Stewards Councils.

12.2. Stewards may be elected by ballot, petition, or appointment. Chapters may determine the appropriate steward election and recall method based on the needs of their members, subject to the policies established by this Union.

12.3. A steward has no greater rights than any of the members in her/his area. The diversity of the union allows for a general description of stewards' roles and responsibilities. Stewards' roles and responsibilities include, but are not limited to:

- A. Participate in ongoing training and education;
- B. Welcome and orient new members;
- C. Mobilize, educate, and inform members on union activities and other issues that impact them;
- D. Resolve worksite issues and process grievances;
- E. Provide timely and effective representation for the members.

12.4. When stewards are engaged in contract enforcement and representation, they are the legally recognized representatives of the Union in the workplace.

12.5. Stewards Councils may be comprised of stewards from one or more bargaining units, chapters, or geographic areas. The purpose of Stewards Councils is to provide stewards with an opportunity to share issues and develop strategies with those who have common interests, employers, chapters, or industries. Chapters may establish Stewards Councils within or across chapters, subject to the policies established by the Union.

ARTICLE 13. COMMITTEES: Committees are essential to implementing the programs and plans of the Union. They also provide members with the opportunity to participate in the work and decision-making of the union, gain leadership experience, and build solidarity with members from across the Union. Committees shall operate subject to the policies established by the Union and in accordance with the Bylaws of this Union and the International Constitution and Bylaws.

13.1. The Executive Board may establish committees to implement its plans and programs.

13.2. Each standing committee shall develop policies and procedures related to governance, committee membership, and operations. All committees shall make reports in writing and shall confine their activities to the business for which they were formed. The Executive Board shall have the authority to review and approve said policies and procedures.

13.3. Except for the chair of the Budget and Finance Committee, the chair of each standing committee shall be elected by the members as defined in Article 18 (Elections) of these Bylaws.

13.4. The standing committees include the Organizing Committee, Social and Economic Justice Committee, Political Action Committee, Budget and Finance Committee, and the Retirement Security Committee.

Budget and Finance Committee: The purpose of the Budget and Finance Committee is to develop recommendations related to the budget, including, but not limited to, investments, expenditures, financial policy, and other fiduciary matters of the Union. The Budget and Finance Committee shall then submit the aforementioned recommendations to the Executive Board for their approval. Upon approval of said recommendations by the Executive Board, the Budget and Finance Committee will then be responsible for providing the ongoing budgetary management over said expenditures, investments, financial policies and other fiduciary matters of the Union, in order to ensure that the approved recommendations are carried out. The Budget and Finance Committee shall be chaired by the Treasurer of the Union and comprised of two (2) elected committee members from each of the regions of SEIU Local 1021, in addition to the officers of the Union, and the Retiree Council Chair. Members of the Budget and Finance Committee shall also be members of the Executive Board.

Retirement Security Committee: The purpose of the Retirement Security Committee is to work to achieve a secure retirement for all workers. The Committee shall provide education and training around pensions and pension issues to the members. This committee is comprised of active and retired members committed to maintaining and improving retirement benefits, and retiree health care.

The Retirement Security Committee Chair shall be responsible for engaging members and retired members Localwide around pension issues. The Committee shall track legislation and bargaining and, subject to the authority of the Executive Board, the Committee shall create political policies and strategies related to retirement security. The Committee may recommend to the COPE committee(s) candidates for retirement board endorsement. The Retirement Security Committee Chair shall submit a written quarterly report on the activities and status of pension-related issues, including legislation and pension bargaining, in the regions; and shall be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred in carrying out these duties.

Political Action Committee: The purpose of the Political Action Committee is to engage members in local, state, and national politics, to educate members on the impact of politics on their daily lives, and to mobilize members to take part in political education and action, community partnership, issue advocacy, and voluntary contributions to our COPE fund.

Organizing Committee: The purpose of the Member Organizing Committee is to organize the un-organized worker and to ensure meaningful member participation and leadership development through organizing. This committee has an emphasis on organizing that responds to changing political and economic conditions and is a member-run committee with staff support.

Social and Economic Justice Committee: The purpose of the Social and Economic Justice Committee is to build partnerships with community allies committed to improving opportunities for working people, in particular workers from under-represented, low income, and diverse communities. This committee supports caucuses and committees to support the Union in meeting this goal.

ARTICLE 14. EXECUTIVE BOARD: The Executive Board shall be the governing body of the Union, responsible for representing the interests of the members and for managing the affairs of the Union in accordance with the goals and objectives of the members and the terms and conditions established in these Bylaws.

14.1. Composition: The Executive Board shall be comprised of the following members:

A. Officers: President, Regional Vice Presidents, Vice President of Politics, Vice President of Organizing, Vice President of Representation, Secretary, and Treasurer.

B. Industry Chairs: One (1) Industry chair representing each Industry Council.

C. Retiree Council chair: One (1) Retiree Council chair.

D. Committee chairs: Social and Economic Justice, Retirement Security.

E. County Area Representatives:

1. One (1) representative for each county area with between 100 and 5,000 represented members.

2. Two (2) representatives for each county area with between 5,001 and 10,000 represented members.

3. Three (3) representatives for each county area with 10,001 or more represented members.

F. Budget and Finance Committee Members.

14.2. Powers and Authority: The Executive Board is authorized to take all lawful action consistent with the Bylaws of this Union. The Executive Board shall also be empowered to:

A. Oversee the fiduciary affairs of the Union, including investing, expending, contributing, using and acquiring Union funds and property in pursuit of the objectives of this Union. The Executive Board shall approve the annual budget.

B. Oversee the operations of the Union and establish operating policies, procedures, standards and rules to ensure that the goals and objectives and direction of the Union are met. The Executive Board shall approve the compensation, terms, and conditions of employment for all officers and staff of the Union.

C. Transact all business, manage and direct the business and affairs of the Union, and implement the programs and plans of the Union. The Executive Board may establish committees and subcommittees to implement the plans or programs of the Union and may delegate roles and activities as appropriate.

D. Sell or dispose of, as well as lease, purchase, or otherwise lawfully acquire, real estate or other property rights and privileges deemed necessary for conducting the affairs of the Union.

E. Authorize the formation of chapters and Industry Councils, as well as modify regions.

F. Review at its meetings how staff, Officers and Executive Board delegates are implementing the policy, programs and goals of the Local Union.

G. Grant authorization to employ or retain legal counsel, accountants, or such other assistants or personnel as required, or as recommended by the President, in order to assist in the operation and administration of the Local Union. Any other staffing items shall be subject to the terms of the applicable collective bargaining agreement or employment contract.

14.3. Responsibilities: The Executive Board shall be responsible for:

- A. Representing the interests of its membership as the foremost priority.
- B. Ensuring that members from each region and Industry of Local 1021 participate in the work of the Union and have a voice in decision-making.
- C. Actively enhancing the reputation of the Union by upholding the highest standard of ethics, in accordance with the Bylaws of this Union and applicable law.
- D. Maintaining confidentiality for those matters that demand it.

14.4. Meetings

A. The Executive Board shall meet monthly and may meet more frequently as determined by the President and Executive Board. The President of the Union shall have the authority to call meetings of the Executive Board and shall serve as the chair of Executive Board meetings. The date, time, and location shall be made known to the membership. Meetings of the Executive Board may be held by telephone or video conference at the discretion of the President.

B. A majority of filled seats shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of official business at any meeting. The action of a simple majority of the Executive Board present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the action of the Executive Board.

C. All Executive Board members shall attend each meeting of the Executive Board. If any Executive Board member has two (2) unexcused absences in a calendar year, s/he may be subject to charges and removal from office pursuant to Article 23 (Trials and Appeals) of these Bylaws and Article XVII of the International Union Constitution and Bylaws.

D. When the Executive Board is not meeting and the President deems it necessary for the Executive Board to act promptly on a matter, the President or her/his designee may poll the Executive Board and such action and vote may be taken by letter, telegram, teletype, facsimile, telephone, electronic mail, or any other appropriate means of communication. Such action so taken on vote of the majority of the Executive Board shall constitute official action of the Executive Board.

E. Reports regarding significant activities of, and decisions made by, the President, Lead Director and/or the Head of Operations and Labor Relations shall be made to the Executive Board in a timely manner but no later than the next Executive Board meeting.

ARTICLE 15. ELECTED OFFICIALS

15.1. Powers and Duties of the Officers

A. President - Officer

1. Subject to the authority and direction of the Executive Board, the President shall be the presiding officer of the Local Union and shall preside over all Executive Board meetings, General Membership meetings and the Local Union Convention.
2. S/he shall have general oversight and input into all programs, finances and committees of the union in accordance with these bylaws.
3. The President, along with the Treasurer, shall be authorized to countersign all orders on funds, after such expenditures of funds have been approved by the Executive Board.
4. S/he shall be a non voting participant (ex officio) in any committees as s/he requests. S/he is a non-voting member of the Executive Board, unless breaking a tie.
5. S/he appoints committees and committee chairs with concurrence of the Executive Board.
6. The President shall cause an agenda to be prepared for each meeting of the Executive Board prior to that meeting in accordance with board policy and the draft

agenda to be emailed together with the notice of the meeting to all board members for review. Approval of the final agenda shall occur at the beginning of each board meeting.

7. S/he may receive complaints and grievances and work with the Lead Director to seek solutions of same.

8. The President shall serve as the Union's First Delegate to all conventions to which the Local is entitled to send delegates. The President shall serve as the first delegate to the SEIU State Council.

9. The President shall represent the Union before all boards, committees, departments and other official bodies as may be designated by the Executive Board, including, but not limited to, serving as a delegate to all committees, boards, divisions, conventions and conferences of the Service Employees International Union and its affiliated bodies, and other organizations that the union is affiliated with. Where appropriate the President may designate another member to represent the union in her/his absence.

10. The President shall serve as the chief spokesperson for the Union, representing the Union in the community, in the media, and at meetings, conferences or conventions with which the Union is affiliated.

11. The President shall be reimbursed for his/her reasonable expenses incurred in carrying out his/her duties.

B. Regional Vice Presidents - Officers

1. The Regional Vice Presidents shall assist the President in the performance of the President's duties and shall perform all other proper duties and functions pertaining to the office.

2. The Regional Vice Presidents shall be reimbursed for their reasonable expenses incurred in carrying out their duties.

3. Each Regional Vice President shall be responsible for representing the interests of members within a unique geographical area of the Union, including, but not limited to, establishing a strong Union presence within the assigned geographical area, attending industry, committee and other meetings, and engaging, promoting, recruiting, and mentoring members to implement the Union's programs and plans.

4. Regional Vice Presidents may co-chair Regional Stewards Council Meetings at multiple locations in their respective areas. Regional Vice Presidents may co-chair, with the county area representatives, Regional Council Meetings.

5. The Executive Board shall select, by a simple majority, the subsequent delegates for all conventions to which the Local is entitled to send delegates other than the SEIU International Convention, which is addressed in Article 17.

C. Vice President of Representation - Officer

1. Elected Localwide.

2. Assists in the development of the Member Resource Center (MRC).

3. Tracks best practices.

4. Tracks trends.

5. Works with Regional Vice Presidents to recruit, train and support stewards.

6. The Vice President of Representation shall be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred in carrying out his/her duties.

7. Will Co-Chair Arbitration and Appeals Committee.

8. Reports monthly to the Executive Board.

9. The Vice President of Representation shall be responsible for supporting the President and Regional Vice Presidents to ensure that grievances are handled in a

timely manner and aggressively; arbitrations are properly scheduled; and that the interests of the membership as they relate to worksite representation issues are protected.

10. Will oversee effective and transparent tracking of grievances and arbitrations.

11. The Vice President of Representation shall serve as the third delegate to the SEIU State Council.

D. Vice President of Politics - Officer

1. The Vice President of Politics shall be responsible for overseeing the political program of the Local and engaging, educating and training members about the political process and political issues affecting working families at the local, county, state, and national government levels. The duties of the Vice President of Politics shall include: educating the membership on the impact of politics on their daily lives, training and certification of Member Political Organizers (MPO's) throughout the regions, and mobilizing members to take part in community partnerships and comprehensive advocacy and action. The Vice President of Politics is also responsible for increasing and sustaining contributions to the SEIU 1021 COPE fund.

2. The Vice President of Politics shall submit a written quarterly report on the activities and status of SEIU 1021's Political Organizing throughout the regions.

3. The Vice President of Politics shall be reimbursed for his/her reasonable expenses incurred in carrying out his/her duties.

4. The Vice President of Politics shall chair the Local 1021 COPE Committee.

5. The Vice President of Politics shall serve as the second delegate to the SEIU State Council.

E. Vice President of Organizing - Officer

1. The Vice President of Organizing shall be responsible for raising members' awareness of the vital importance of organizing the unorganized workers. The duties of the Vice President of Organizing include: the development and implementation of a comprehensive organizing strategy with measurable goals. The developed strategy shall include member education, motivation, and mobilization. The Vice President of Organizing is also responsible for the training and certification of Member Organizers (MO's) throughout the regions to implement organizing strategies and the member organizing program.

2. The Vice President of Organizing shall submit a written quarterly report to the Executive Board on the activities and status of SEIU 1021's Organizing efforts throughout the regions.

3. The Vice President of Organizing shall be reimbursed for his/her reasonable expenses incurred in carrying out his/her duties.

4. The Vice President of Organizing shall chair the Organizing Committee.

F. Secretary - Officer

1. The Secretary shall keep or cause to be kept, a correct and impartial account of the proceedings of each membership and Executive Board meeting. The Secretary (or her/his designee) must be physically present at the meeting for which they are taking minutes. Minutes shall be based on the written notes of the Secretary or designee, and the person who takes the notes shall produce the minutes. If approved by the Executive Board, tape recordings may be used as adjuncts to the written notes. If the Secretary is absent and fails to appoint a designee, the President shall do so. Minutes of Executive Board meetings shall be submitted to all

members of the Executive Board no later than five (5) days before the next calendared Executive Board meeting.

2. The Secretary shall be reimbursed for her/his reasonable expenses incurred in carrying out her/his duties.

3. The Secretary shall maintain all official documents of the organization, including, but not limited to, important documents, papers, and correspondence, as well as files on contracts and agreements with employers. The Secretary shall assist the Treasurer in maintaining accurate membership records and with notifying the International of all activities of the Local which require reporting to the International.

4. The Secretary shall be one (1) of three (3) persons, along with the Treasurer and President, authorized to countersign all orders on funds after such expenditures of funds have been approved by the Executive Board.

G. Treasurer - Officer

1. The Treasurer shall oversee the finances of the Union and be responsible for all financial records and transactions, receive and collect all dues and other monies due to the Union (which shall be deposited in sound and secure financial institutions), be custodian of all monies received by the Union, keep a correct account of all monies paid out and received by the Union, and be custodian of all property of the Union pertaining to her/his office. In addition the Treasurer shall be responsible for filing all bills and receipts and, on a quarterly basis, shall make a written report of all financial transactions to the Executive Board. Additionally, together with the President, s/he shall furnish a CPA report annually on the financial status of the Union, first to the Executive Board and then to the General Membership. Further, all Union records pertaining to income, disbursements, and financial transactions of any kind shall be kept for a period of six (6) years or longer, if required by law.

2. The Treasurer shall be reimbursed for her/his reasonable expenses incurred in carrying out her/his duties.

3. The Treasurer shall serve as the chair of the Budget and Finance Committee.

4. The Treasurer along with the President shall be authorized to countersign all orders on funds after such expenditures of funds have been approved by the Executive Board. In the absence or inability of the Treasurer to countersign checks, the Secretary as designated by the President may also sign checks.

5. The Treasurer shall communicate the financial position of the Union to the membership.

6. The Treasurer shall be responsible for submitting a regular and complete financial report of the Union to the Executive Board.

7. The Treasurer shall send or cause to be sent to the International Union all annual audit reports and all financial reports setting forth a statement of liabilities and a statement of receipts and disbursements which are required by law.

8. The Treasurer shall insure that all records pertaining to income, disbursements, and financial transactions are maintained and kept in accordance with the law.

9. The Treasurer or her/his designee shall see that an accurate record of all dues payments and other revenue shall be sent to the International Union, and s/he shall send monthly to the International Secretary-Treasurer and any state council with which this Union is affiliated, the correct names and addresses (with zip code and e-mail address and phone number, if available) of all new and readmitted members, along with any changes in names and/or addresses of members, changes in membership status, and names and addresses of any other persons from whom revenue is derived.

10. With the aid of staff, it shall be the duty of the Treasurer to maintain an accurate record of members of the Union, showing: their classification, address and phone number; including Regular, Associate, Retired and Life Members, Laid-off members and Service and Charity Fee-payers; the names of the chapters and bargaining units in which the members are employed; and all initiations, expulsions, suspensions and rejections. S/he shall receive all dues or other monies due and payable to the Union, giving her/his receipts as required, and thereafter s/he shall deposit all such monies. The Treasurer shall maintain records which show the receipts and disbursements pertaining to each fund of the Union and said receipts shall be open for inspection and verification at any time as authorized by the Executive Board.

15.2. Terms of Office: The term of office for all elected Executive Board members shall be three (3) years, with a possible re-election for two (2) additional terms. Executive Board members shall assume office upon taking an oath of office at the first Executive Board meeting held after the Executive Board election.

15.3. Vacancies

A. In the event of a vacancy in the office of President, the Executive Board shall designate a successor to succeed and serve the remainder of the unexpired term or until a special election is held.

B. In the event of a vacancy in the office of any officer position, if more than half a term remains, the Executive Board may call a special election to fill the position. If less than half a term remains, the President shall appoint a successor who shall serve the remainder of the unexpired term, to be approved by a majority vote of the Executive Board.

C. In the event of a vacancy in the office of any other seat of the Executive Board, the President shall appoint a successor who shall serve the remainder of the unexpired term, to be approved by a majority vote of the Executive Board.

15.4. Code of Ethics

A. All members and officers of the Executive Board and employees of SEIU shall comply with applicable state and federal labor law clauses regarding conflict of interest and full disclosure for non-profit organizations, as well as the current SEIU International Code of Ethics.

B. No officer, Executive Board member, staff member, or agent of the Union may have business or financial interests that are in conflict with the fiduciary obligations of such persons to the Union.

C. No two (2) officers on the local signature card shall be permitted to live in the same household.

D. In the case that any officer or Executive Board member of SEIU Local 1021 engages in an official activity that could lead to a possible benefit or gain for her/himself, family or close association, s/he shall inform the other participants in said activity of the relationship prior to any action being taken, in an attempt to provide full disclosure and to prevent the appearance of or actual conflict of interest from taking place, including, but not limited to endorsements for political office, contracts for services with the Union, and any other related matters.

E. No officer, Executive Board member, staff member, or agent of the Union will make work-related decisions or provide input into work-related decisions made by others, involving her/his relative or an employee with whom s/he has a personal relationship, even if s/he does not directly supervise that person. This includes, but is not limited to, decisions about hiring, wages, hours, benefits, assignments, evaluations, training, discipline, promotions, and transfers.

15.5. Recall

A. Executive Board members, including officers, may be recalled by a vote of the constituency that elected them to office.

B. A recall petition for officers elected Localwide must be signed by at least ten percent (10%) of the membership. For non-Localwide offices, a recall petition must be signed by at least fifteen percent (15%) of the membership of the constituency that elected her/him to office.

C. Recall elections shall not be scheduled if a petition is received within one hundred eighty (180) days of a general election.

D. A special election committee shall be designated by the Executive Board to conduct the election, within ninety (90) days of receipt of the recall petition, pursuant to the provisions decided upon by the Executive Board.

E. If an Executive Board member or officer is recalled, her/his office shall be declared vacant and filled in accordance with Article 15.3 (Elected Officials) of these Bylaws.

F. If a recall is not approved by a majority of those voting in the recall election, no new petition regarding this Executive Board member shall be considered valid for the remainder of her/his term.

G. The recall process shall not be used merely to overturn the results of a bona fide election to office.

15.6. Termination: The termination of an officer or member of the Executive Board will take place according to the following:

A. At the end of the term of the office or seat.

B. If an office or seat is declared vacant, pursuant to these Bylaws.

C. Upon submitting a letter of resignation to the President.

ARTICLE 16. ADMINISTRATION

16.1. Definition

The Administration of this Union shall be vested in the Executive Board, through the President, who is bound to act reasonably and in good faith and for the benefit of the members of the Union.

16.2. Powers and Authority

A. Lines of authority, powers, duties, and responsibilities for the Administration of this Union are as follows:

1. The Lead Director shall report to and be subject to the authority of the President. While operating within an approved budget, day-to-day operations of the Field Staff, including hiring, firing, supervising and directing field staff shall be the responsibility of the Lead Director, subject to the authority of the President. The President is subject to the authority of the Executive Board. Any other staffing items shall be subject to the terms of the applicable collective bargaining agreement or employment contract.

2. The Lead Director shall receive all complaints and grievances. S/he shall work with all officers to seek solutions to all complaints and grievances, and delegate authority to seek solutions of same to the appropriate staff or member group. S/he shall report his/her activities to the Executive Board, leadership meetings, membership meetings, and other special meetings. Reports regarding significant activities of, and decisions made by, the Lead Director shall be made to the Executive Board in a timely manner but no later than the next Executive Board meeting.

3. The Head of Operations and Labor Relations (HOLR) shall act as the chief operations staff person of the local, and shall report to and be subject to the authority of the President. The President is subject to the authority of the Executive Board. In the exercise of these functions, the Head of Operations and Labor Relations shall be bound to act reasonably, in good faith and for the benefit of the members, and to utilize sound judgment and discretion.

4. The Head of Operations and Labor Relations shall serve as the chief operations and administrative staff person of the local union. Reports regarding significant activities of, and decisions made by, the Head of Operations and Labor Relations shall be made to the Executive Board in a timely manner but no later than the next Executive Board meeting. While operating in accordance with the approved budget and program adopted by the Executive Board, the Head of Operations and Labor Relations shall be responsible for general supervision and direction of the Support Staff, and for managing, overseeing and directing the day-to-day operations of the Support Staff, which shall be carried out in consultation with and subject to the authority of the Local President. The President is subject to the authority of the Executive Board.

5. Operating in accordance with the approved budget and program adopted by the Executive Board, the Head of Operations and Labor Relations shall have the responsibility to manage the Support Staff, including hiring, firing, supervising, and directing and terminating Support Staff, in whatever manner s/he deems appropriate for the efficient administration of the staff, subject to the authority of the President. The President is subject to the authority of the Executive Board. Any other staff items shall be subject to the terms of the applicable bargaining agreement or employment contract.

6. The Head of Operations and Labor Relations shall send to the International Secretary-Treasurer of the International Union copies of all annual financial reports and LM-2 reports, and the correct names, addresses, and the last 4 digits of social security numbers or identification number of all members initiated or readmitted, and of all other persons from whom income is derived, and of those suspended for non-payment of dues or for any other cause, and a correct list of those who take transfer or withdrawal cards. The proper zip codes shall be included for each address. S/he shall notify the International Union in writing when any collective bargaining negotiations or memoranda of understanding have been concluded and the number of employees covered, and send copies of collective bargaining agreements and contracts entered into by the Local Union to the Research Department of the International Union. The Head of Operations and Labor Relations shall notify the International Union of the newly elected officers within fifteen (15) days of their taking office.

7. At all times, the Head of Operations and Labor Relations shall work to effectuate and implement the policies of the Executive Board.

B. The terms and conditions of employment for the Lead Director, and the Head of Operations and Labor Relations shall be determined by the Executive Board.

ARTICLE 17. INTERNATIONAL CONVENTION DELEGATES: Officers and members of the Executive Board elected in conformity with applicable statutes shall be considered eligible delegates to any convention to which the Union is entitled to send delegates. The President shall serve as the Union's first delegate to the International Union Convention. If the total number of Executive Board members is greater than the number of delegates to which this Local Union is entitled at any International Union Convention, or is greater than the number of delegates that this

Local determines shall represent it at any Convention, all subsequent delegates shall be selected at random from among the Executive Board members by placing names in a hat and drawing names out of the hat until all delegate positions are filled, in accordance with applicable laws.

ARTICLE 18. LOCAL EXECUTIVE BOARD ELECTIONS

18.1. Election Committee

- A. The Executive Board shall make provisions for time, place, and conduct of elections.
- B. The Election Committee shall consist of at least five (5) members and up to three (3) alternates appointed by the President and approved by the Executive Board. Appointments shall be made at least sixty (60) days prior to an election. Only members in good standing shall be eligible for appointment to the Election Committee. No candidate for office shall be a member of the Election Committee.
- C. Nominations and elections shall be conducted and governed by the Election Committee in accordance with these Bylaws. The Election Committee may request assistance of the Executive Board to obtain financial, technical, or other assistance in order to conduct an honest and fair election.
- D. The Executive Board shall have the option to contract with a neutral, third party contractor to conduct an election as deemed necessary. In case of a contractor-run election, the Election Committee shall establish election parameters and regulations that do not conflict with these Bylaws.

18.2. Election Procedures

- A. The Election Committee shall submit election rules, procedures, schedules, contribution limits, and campaign spending limits to the Executive Board for approval.
- B. The Election Committee shall have the authority to determine candidate eligibility and shall inform any nominee not eligible for election as to the reason. The Election Committee may disqualify a candidate due to ineligibility or a violation of election rules, procedures, or regulations. Any candidate disqualified by the Election Committee may appeal that decision to the Executive Board.
- C. The Executive Board shall be elected by the members of this Union by means of a secret ballot in the following manner.
 - 1. All regular members shall have the opportunity to vote on the election of the seats for President, Vice President of Politics, Vice President of Organizing, Vice President of Representation, Secretary, Treasurer, and Committee Chairs (Social and Economic Justice, Retirement Security). Retiree members shall have the opportunity to vote on the election of the Retirement Security Committee Chair and the Retiree Council Chair.
 - 2. Only members based in a particular Industry may nominate or vote for a nominee for the Executive Board seat representing that particular Industry.
 - 3. Only members based in a particular region may nominate or vote for a nominee for the Budget and Finance Committee seats representing that particular region.
 - 4. Only members based in a particular county may nominate or vote for a nominee for the Executive Board seat representing that particular county area.
 - 5. Only retiree members in good standing may nominate or vote for a nominee for Retiree Council chair.
 - 6. Only members based in a particular region may nominate or vote for the Regional Vice President representing that particular region.

D. Notice of election procedures shall be mailed to each member at least thirty (30) days prior to the election. The ballot shall be mailed to the address recorded in the Union office as the last known address of the member.

E. Nominations for elected positions on the Executive Board of the Local Union shall be made by means of a petition furnished by the Election Committee and signed by no less than twenty-five (25) members in good standing. Such petitions shall include the signature of the nominee, and all signatures shall be both printed and signed. Petitions shall be filed with the chair of the Election Committee or contractor by the approved deadline.

F. To be eligible, nominees must have been members in continuous good standing for at least two (2) years immediately preceding the nomination.

1. In the case of members whose chapter has been with this Union for less than two (2) years prior to the deadline for filing of the nomination petition, the candidate must have been a member in continuous good standing for at least one-half (1/2) of the length of time the chapter has been in existence.

2. No person who has been convicted of a felony as defined in Section 504 of the Landrum-Griffin Act (or an indictable offense in Canada) shall, in accordance with the provisions of applicable law, be eligible to hold office in this Local Union. In addition, no candidate (including a prospective candidate) for any office in this Union or affiliated body or supporter of a candidate may solicit or accept financial support or any other direct or indirect support of any kind from any non-member of SEIU.

3. Write-in candidates shall not be permitted.

4. No member shall be a candidate for more than one (1) Executive Board office or seat at a time.

5. All eligibility requirements must be complied with in accordance with these Bylaws.

6. In addition to the above requirements, the eligibility requirements for candidates for offices and seats of the Executive Board are as follows:

a. Eligible officeholders for President, Vice President of Politics, Vice President of Representation, Vice President of Organizing, Treasurer, Secretary, Chair of the Social and Economic Justice Committee, and Chair of the Retirement Security Committee must be regular members currently employed in an SEIU 1021 bargaining unit.

b. Eligible officeholders for Regional Vice Presidents and Budget and Finance Committee members must be regular members currently employed in an SEIU 1021 bargaining unit within the region they represent.

c. Eligible county area representatives must be regular members currently employed in an SEIU 1021 bargaining unit based in the county area they represent.

d. Eligible Industry chairs must be regular members currently employed in an SEIU 1021 bargaining unit based in the industry they represent.

e. An eligible Retiree Council chair must be a retiree member in good standing and must be paying the dues rate of a retiree member.

G. Eligible candidates may inspect a list of eligible voters.

H. All candidates shall conduct campaigns in accordance with applicable laws, election rules and these Bylaws. Candidates for office shall disclose contribution sources upon request of the Election Committee.

I. The Union shall refrain from discrimination in favor of or against any candidate. While in the performance of their duties, Union staff shall not endorse or support the campaign of any candidate.

J. The Election Committee or contractor shall prepare secret ballots and voting instructions, which shall be mailed to members in good standing at the member's last known home address. As

part of this mailing, each candidate shall be entitled to submit a candidate statement, not to exceed two hundred (200) words. The Election Committee or contractor shall determine the rules governing such mailings.

1. Only those ballots returned to the Election Committee shall be considered to have been validly cast.
2. Proxy voting shall not be permitted.
3. Any eligible voter may witness the opening and counting of ballots.
4. The candidate receiving the plurality of total votes cast for each office shall be declared elected. If more than one (1) nominee ties for the highest number, all these nominees shall be placed on a run-off ballot. In this case, the nominee receiving the highest number of votes shall be declared elected.
5. Where there is more than one (1) industry in a county and the county has more than 5,000 members, county representative seats shall be held by members of different industries. In this case, the candidate receiving the highest number of votes shall be declared elected to the first county representative seat; the candidate receiving the second highest number of votes from a different industry than the first representative shall be declared elected to the second county area representative seat; the candidate receiving the third highest number of votes from a different industry than the first and second representatives shall be declared elected.
6. Where there is more than one industry or county area within a region the second BFC seat for that region shall go to the candidate receiving the highest number of votes from a different industry or county area.
7. If only one (1) eligible candidate is nominated for an office, s/he shall be elected without further procedures.
8. The Election Committee or contractor shall certify the election results and submit a written report to the Executive Board following the election certification. The report shall include candidate/issue vote totals, any challenges filed, and the names and contact information of the Election Committee members. Election results shall be posted for public viewing.
9. All elected officers and Executive Board members shall assume office upon taking an oath of office at the next Executive Board meeting.

K. Any challenge or protest concerning the conduct of the election or election results must be submitted in writing, with specific facts setting forth the challenge or protest, and must be received by the Election Committee within ten (10) calendar days of the posting of election results. Challenges to the election will be considered only if they cite specific violations of election rules and procedures outlined in these Bylaws or applicable law and if the alleged violation may have affected the outcome of the election. The Election Committee (or Executive Board in case of a contractor-run election) shall decide on the action to be taken, subject to the appellate process of this Union.

ARTICLE 19. COLLECTIVE BARGAINING

19.1. Negotiations teams shall be established to facilitate effective contract negotiations. Bargaining unit members shall elect their negotiations team members. Staff of this Union shall support the negotiations team through participation in bargaining, training, communications, research, and any other activities required for effective negotiations.

19.2. The results of any collective bargaining session shall be subject to ratification by the members within the bargaining unit. Collective bargaining agreements (contracts) shall be ratified

by a secret ballot vote of the members in the bargaining unit. Sufficient notice shall be given to the membership, in accordance with policies and procedures established by this Union.

19.3. Collective bargaining agreements shall be submitted to the Executive Board.

19.4. The International Union shall be notified in writing when any collective bargaining negotiations or memorandum of understanding has been concluded and be advised of the number of employees covered and the expiration date of the contract. Copies of collective bargaining agreements and contracts entered into by this Union shall, after signing, be sent to the Research Department of the International Union. Such notification or filing with the International Union shall not impose any liability on the International Union or its officers or make them parties to any such collective bargaining agreement or memorandum of understanding.

ARTICLE 20. STRIKE: A chapter may not initiate a strike without a majority concurrence of the voting membership by secret ballot. If a strike vote is rendered, the chapter shall obtain a sanction from the Executive Board of this Union. No chapter of this Union shall strike without previous notification of the International President, or, where prior notice is not practicable, without notification as soon as possible after commencement of the strike, in which this Union has stated that it has complied with all applicable notice requirements. If this Union fails to give such notice, the International Union President may withhold sanction for any strike called by the Union.

ARTICLE 21. UNION FUNDS, DUES AND PROPERTY

21.1. Funds of the Union

A. Funds of the Union shall be derived from initiation fees, dues, fines, assessments, and by any other legal means that have been approved by the Executive Board. Records pertaining to Union income, disbursements, and financial transactions shall be kept for a period of at least six (6) years or longer if required by applicable law. This Union shall pay per capita tax to the International Union for any person from whom the union receives revenue, whether called dues or otherwise. This Union shall likewise pay any other obligations due to the International Union and it shall have no right to pay any bills until it pays its full obligations to the International Union for each month.

B. Membership in this Union shall not vest any member any right, title, or interest in or to the funds, property, or other assets of this Union, now owned and possessed or that may hereafter be acquired. Each member hereby expressly waives any rights, title, or interest in or to the property of this Union, including the funds of this Union.

21.2. Dues

A. It is the member's responsibility to pay dues. In order to be a member in good standing, dues must be current and paid on time. Dues are due and payable on or before the last day of the current month. If a member is on lost time, dues will be deducted by the Union to ensure continual membership in good standing.

B. The Executive Board shall continue the process towards dues uniformity. Any changes to the members' dues percentage rates, in working towards dues uniformity, will be subject to a vote of the membership.

ARTICLE 22. BONDING: Each officer and Executive Board member who handles funds or other property of this Union shall be bonded in accordance with the requirements of the International

Constitution and Bylaws and applicable laws and statutes. The amount of bond required shall be determined by the Executive Board and shall be paid out of the general fund of the Union.

ARTICLE 23. TRIALS AND APPEALS: In order to ensure members' protection from the filing of frivolous charges, the following procedures shall apply:

A. This Union, its officers or members may be charged with offenses set forth in Article XVII Section 1 of the SEIU International Constitution and Bylaws. The charges must be specific and in writing. The charges must state which subsection(s) of Section 1 of Article XVII of the International Constitution that the charging party believes has been violated. If the charges are not specific, the committee appointed to hear the charges may dismiss the charges either before or at the hearing, but the charging party shall have the right to re-file more detailed charges which comply with this Section and Article XVII, Section 1. No charges may be filed more than six (6) months after the charging party learned, or could have reasonably learned, of the act or acts which are the basis of the charges.

B. The President shall appoint a committee to hear evidence related to such charges.

C. The charges against any member or officer of this Union shall be filed in duplicate with the Secretary of this Union who shall serve a copy thereof on the accused either personally or by registered or certified mail, directed to the last known address of the accused, at least ten (10) days before the hearing upon the charges.

D. The procedures for trials and appeals shall be those set forth in Article XVII of the SEIU International Constitution and Bylaws, Section 2.

ARTICLE 24. LITIGATION: Subject to applicable law, no member shall bring action against the Union, officers, or employees thereof with respect to any matter unless and until the administrative procedural remedies provided by these Bylaws have been exhausted. Neither the Union, nor its officers or employees shall be responsible or liable for a wrongful or unlawful act, except when the Union, or specific officers or employees have actually authorized such acts, or have ratified such acts after actual knowledge thereof.

ARTICLE 25. AMENDMENTS: Proposed amendments to these Bylaws may be originated by a majority vote of the Executive Board or by a petition signed by at least ten percent (10%) of regular members in good standing. The Executive Board shall review any proposed amendment and may issue a recommendation to the membership. The Executive Board shall refer any such amendments to the membership for a vote. Amendments to the Bylaws shall be approved by a majority of voting members.

SEIU MEMBER BILL OF RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES IN THE UNION

- The right to have opinions heard and respected, to be informed of union activity, to be educated in union values and union skills.
- The right to choose the leaders of the union in a fair and democratic manner.
- The right to a full accounting of union dues and the proper stewardship over union resources.
- The right to participate in the union's bargaining efforts and to approve union contracts.
- The right to have members' concerns resolved in a fair and expeditious manner.
- The responsibility to help build a strong and more effective labor movement, to support the organizing of unorganized workers, to help build a political voice for working people, and to stand up for one's co-workers and all workers.
- The responsibility to be informed about the internal governance of the union and to participate in the conduct of the union's affairs.
- The responsibility to contribute to the support of the union.
- The responsibility to treat all workers and members fairly.
- The responsibility to offer constructive criticism of the union.

SEIU MEMBER BILL OF RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE JOB

- The right to have work that is worthwhile to society, personally satisfying to the worker, and which provides a decent standard of living, a healthy and safe workplace, and the maximum possible employment security.
- The right to have a meaningful and protected voice in the design and execution of one's work and in the long-term planning by one's employer as well as the training necessary to take part in such planning.
- The right to fair and equitable treatment on the job.
- The right to share fairly in the gains of the employer.
- The right to participate fully in the work of the union on the scope, content, and structure of one's job.
- The responsibility to participate in the union's efforts to establish and uphold collective principles and values for effective workplace participation.
- The responsibility to recognize and respect the interests of all union members when making decisions about union goals.
- The responsibility to be informed about the industry in which one works and about the forces that will affect the condition of workers in the industry.
- The responsibility to participate fully in the union's efforts to expand the voice of workers on the job.
- The responsibility to give fully and fairly of one's talents and efforts on the job and to recognize the legitimate goals of one's employer.

APPENDIX A MANUAL OF COMMON PROCEDURE

Debate

The following rules shall be used to govern debate:

Rule 1. The regular order of business may be suspended by a vote of the meeting at any time to dispose of urgent business.

Rule 2. All motions (if required by the chair) or resignations must be submitted in writing.

Rule 3. Any conversation, by whispering or otherwise, or any other activity which is calculated to disturb or may have the effect of disturbing a member while speaking or disturb the conduct of the meeting or hinder the transaction of business shall be deemed a violation of order.

Rule 4. Sectarian discussion shall not be permitted in the meetings.

Rule 5. A motion to be entertained by the presiding officer must be seconded, and the mover as well as seconder must rise and be recognized by the chair.

Rule 6. Any member having made a motion can withdraw it with consent of the seconder, but a motion once debated cannot be withdrawn except by a majority vote.

Rule 7. A motion to amend an amendment shall be in order, but no motion to amend an amendment to an amendment shall be permitted.

Rule 8. A motion shall not be subject to debate until it has been stated by the chair.

Rule 9. A member wishing to speak shall rise and respectfully address the chair, and if recognized by the chair, she or he shall be entitled to proceed.

Rule 10. If two or more members rise to speak, the chair shall decide which is entitled to the floor.

Rule 11. Any member speaking shall be confined to the question under debate and avoid all personal, indecorous, or sarcastic language.

Rule 12. Attending meetings under the influence of liquor or any controlled substance not lawfully prescribed is basis for removal.

Rule 13. No member shall interrupt another while speaking, except to a point of order, and the member shall definitely state the point, and the chair shall decide the same without debate.

Rule 14. Any member who is called to order while speaking shall be seated until the point of order is decided, after which, if decided in order, such member may proceed.

Rule 15. Any member who feels personally aggrieved by a decision of the chair may appeal such decision to the body.

Rule 16. When an appeal is made from the decision of the chair, the Vice President shall act as chairperson; the appeal shall be stated by the chair to the meeting in these words: "Shall the decision of the chair be sustained as the decision of this Union?" The member will then have the right to state the grounds of appeal and the chair will give reasons for its decision; thereupon the members will proceed to vote on the appeal without further debate, and it shall require a majority vote to overrule the chair.

Rule 17. No member shall speak more than once on the same subject until all who wish to speak have spoken, nor more than twice without unanimous consent, nor more than five (5) minutes at any one time without consent of a two-thirds vote of all members present.

Rule 18. The presiding officer shall not speak on any subject unless such officer retires from the chair, except on a point of order or to make an official report or give such advice and counsel as the interests of the organization warrant. In case of a tie the presiding officer shall have the deciding vote.

Rule 19. When a question is before the meeting, no motion shall be in order except:

- To adjourn;
- To lay the question on the table;
- For the previous question;
- To postpone to a given time;
- To refer or commit;
- To amend.

These motions shall have precedence in the above order. The first three of these motions are not debatable.

Rule 20. If a question has been amended, the question on the amendment shall be put first; if more than one amendment has been offered, the question shall be put as follows:

- Amendment to the amendment.
- Amendment.
- Original proposition.

Rule 21. When a question is postponed indefinitely, it shall not come up again except by a two-thirds vote.

Rule 22. A motion to adjourn shall always be in order, except:

- When a member has the floor;
- When members are voting.

Rule 23. Before putting a question to vote, the presiding officer shall ask, "Are you ready for the question?" Then it shall be open for debate. If no member rises to speak or the debate is concluded, the presiding officer shall then put the question in this form: "All in favor of this motion say 'aye'"; and after the affirmative vote is expressed, "Those of the contrary opinion, say 'no.'" After the vote is taken, the presiding officer shall announce the result in this manner: "It is carried [or lost] and so ordered."

Rule 24. Before the presiding officer declares the vote on a question, any member may ask for a division of the house. The chair is required to comply with this request. A standing vote shall thereupon be taken.

Rule 25. When a question has been decided it can be reconsidered only by two-thirds vote of those present.

Rule 26. A motion to reconsider must be made and seconded by two members who voted with the majority.

Rule 27. A member ordered to be seated three (3) times by the chair without complying shall be debarred from participating in any further business at that session.

Rule 28. All questions, unless otherwise provided, shall be decided by a majority vote.

Rule 29. The presiding officer of the meeting shall enforce these rules and regulations and may direct that members be removed from the meeting for violation of these rules.

**APPENDIX B
LIST OF SEIU REGIONS AS OF APRIL 2012**

Region A. North Central (Napa, Solano, Sacramento, Butte, Shasta)

Region B. North Coast (Marin, Mendocino, Del Norte, Sonoma)

Region C. East Bay

Region D. San Francisco

Region E. San Joaquin/Calaveras/Amador

LIST OF SEIU REGIONS AS OF SEPTEMBER 2012

Region A. North Central (Napa, Solano, Sacramento, Butte, Shasta, Yuba)

Region B. North Coast (Marin, Mendocino, Del Norte, Sonoma)

Region C. East Bay

Region D. San Francisco

Region E. San Joaquin/Calaveras/Amador